
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422520

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 17 November 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 25 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Sarah Gray

Kate Gregory
Lorraine Hillier
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1 Chair's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 5 - 20)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on Wednesday 14 October and Wednesday 21 October 2020.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered 
as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters 
urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications



3

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

8 Land to rear of 
Greenwood 
Avenue, 
Chinnor, OX39 
4HN  

Reserved Matters application for the 
construction of 116 dwellings with 
associated infrastructure, 
landscaping, parking, open space 
and reptile habitat. Application 
considers details of access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale, following grant of outline 
planning permission P16/S3284/O 
for up to 140 dwellings.

As amended/clarified by plans and 
accompanying information received 
28 August 2020, 8 September 2020, 
6 October 2020 and 15 October 
2020.

P19/S4178/RM 21 - 44

9 Land adjacent 
to Kiln Avenue, 
Chinnor  

Erection of fence along the boundary 
of Kiln Avenue (as per minor 
amendment to the block plan 
submitted 9 September 2020, 
correcting proposed height of fence 
to correlate with the elevations and 
acoustic report provided).

P20/S2355/FUL 45 - 56

10 Coopers Farm, 
Britwell 
Salome, OX49 
5JZ  

Demolish existing garage building 
and construct new detached garage 
annexe building and new open storm 
porch to back door of main house.

P20/S2176/HH & 
P20/S2177/LB

57 - 68

11 6 Clare, Thame, 
OX9 7HQ  

Removal of modern fireplace and 
modern plaster work to right of 
fireplace to reveal original features to 
potentially accommodate a wood 
burning stove; porch canopy; new 
front and back doors; and new 
colour for window detailing and 
doors .

P20/S3243/LB 69 - 76



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 14 OCTOBER 2020 AT 6.00 PM

THIS IS A VIRTUAL MEETING

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti, Ken Arlett, David Bretherton, Sarah Gray, Kate Gregory, Lorraine Hillier, 
George Levy, Jo Robb, Ian White and Celia Wilson

Apologies:

None. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Paul Bowers, Will Darlison, Paula Fox, Max Gull, Simon Kitson, Bertie 
Smith and Tom Wyatt

20 Chair's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the procedure to be 
followed in a virtual meeting.

21 Minutes of the previous meetings, 26 August and 2 September 
2020 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meetings held on 26 August 
2020 and 2 September 2020 as a correct record and agree that the 
Chairman sign these as such.

22 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

23 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

24 Proposals for site visits 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

There were no proposals for site visits.

25 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was shared with 
members of the committee. Any statements from the public received prior to the meeting 
were circulated to the committee and would be published on the council’s website.

26 P20/S1180/FUL - Aston Cottage, 18 Church Lane, Aston Rowant, 
OX49 5SS 

Cllr. Ian White, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of 
this item.

The committee considered application P20/S1180/FUL for the erection of a single 
dwelling. Access derived from the existing drive which serves Aston Cottage. Two parking 
spaces will be provided, together with a turning area, to enable vehicles to leave the site in 
forward gear (amended plans received 10th July 2020, revising position of proposed 
dwelling, reducing footprint, retaining section of frontage hedging and amending dormer 
window detail, Further Amended plans received 27 July 2020) at Aston Cottage, 18 
Church Lane, Aston Rowant.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that the application site lay within the Aston Rowan 
Conservation Area, with proximity to a number of Grade II listed buildings and was 
therefore located in a sensitive part of the village, and heritage considerations were key. 
The recommended conditions provided for local vernacular materials and the design of the 
building took cues from the listed buildings.  The land did not fall within the Chilterns Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. There were trees within the site which were protected by 
Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). 

Cllr. Matthew Day, a representative of Aston Rowant Parish Council, spoke objecting to 
the application. The democratic services officer reported that Mr. Day’s statement on 
behalf of the parish council had been sent to the committee prior to the meeting.

Mr. Mike Smith, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Mr. Andrew Knight, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Mr. Andrew Bateson, the agent, spoke in support of the application. The democratic 
services officer reported that Mr. Bateson’s statement had been sent to the committee 
prior to the meeting.

Cllr. Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

In response to a question from the committee regarding preservation of the archaeological 
features of the site, the planning officer reported that the site lay within an area of 
archaeological interest and it was likely that the development would encounter 
archaeological deposits.  A Written Scheme of Investigation had been submitted and 
should consent be granted, an archaeological watching brief would be maintained during 

Page 6



3

the period of construction.  Also, in response to a question, the planning officer reported 
that a construction management plan would not apply to a site such as this, as it was of a 
relatively small scale.

The committee requested information regarding privacy of neighbouring properties, 
notably the Malt House, whose occupants had objected and the planning officer reported 
that the neighbours’ windows were beyond the 10 meter limit defined in the council’s 
adopted design guide.

The committee was concerned at the mass and scale of the proposal within the 
conservation area, being proximate to several listed buildings, which would be out of 
character with the local area and would be harmful to it.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S1180/FUL for the 
following reasons:

1. the development by virtue of its excessive scale, bulk, massing and inappropriate 
design would appear visually incongruous within the context of the surrounding 
area;

2. the development would fail to conserve or enhance the special historic character 
and appearance of the surrounding Aston Rowant Conservation Area and it would 
harm the setting of both the adjacent Grade II listed buildings and the Grade II* 
listed Church of St. Peter & St. Paul.

27 P20/S1342/FUL - 'New Barn', Mongewell Park Farm, Constitution 
Hill, Mongewell, OX10 8BS 

The committee considered application P20/S1342/FUL for the demolition of building. New 
dwelling with garden and laid out parking area and improved entrance at 'New Barn', 
Mongewell Park Farm, Constitution Hill, Mongewell.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that the application sought planning permission for the 
demolition of the existing vacant agricultural barn and the erection of a two-bedroom 
single-storey dwelling with associated access, parking and amenity garden space. The 
existing detached barn had an extant planning permission to be converted to a residential 
dwelling. The application conformed with South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) 
policies regarding landscape protection, design, and housing in villages. It also complied 
with relevant emerging policies contained in the pre-submission Crowmarsh 
Neighbourhood Plan; village boundaries and infill development (CRP1) and conservation 
and environment (CRP4).

Ms. Rebecca Smalley, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Mr. Henry Venners, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Page 7



4

In response to a question from the committee regarding the possibility of additional tree 
screening, the planning officer reported that the forestry officer had undertaken a site visit 
in order to assess the impact of the proposed development and the outlined tree removals 
alongside the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. That officer had no objection to 
the proposed development, subject to conditions to protect the trees that were to be 
retained on site and secure landscaping. The landscaping condition would ensure that the 
loss of trees on the site would be mitigated through the securing of replacement tree and 
hedge planting.  Also, in response to a question from the committee, the planning officer 
confirmed that the site and its access route did not lie within a flood zone. 

The committee considered that the proposal in its entirety would be acceptable with the 
landscaping condition being amended to refer to a commencement deadline for an 
approved landscaping scheme and for that condition to refer specifically to ‘shrubs’, and 
also to contain a stipulation on the replacement of trees and shrubs lost within a five year 
period.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission, subject to the amendment to 
condition 8 described immediately above, was declared carried on being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P20/S1342/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1.  Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2.  Approved plans. 
3.  Materials as on plan.
4.  Existing vehicular access.
5.  Vision splay protection.
6.  Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained.
7.  Gate/carriageway.
8.  Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only).
9.  Tree Protection (General).
10. Surface Water Drainage.
11.  Foul drainage works (details required).
12. Evidence of Natural England Bat Licence.
13. Wildlife Protection (mitigation and enhancement as approved).

28 P20/S2047/FUL - The Hazels, Old Road, Shotover Hill, OX3 8TA 

Cllr. Sarah Gray, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration 
of this item.

The committee considered application P20/S2047/FUL for a proposed infill dwelling (4-
bed) and associated works and operations (as amplified by Contaminated Land 
Information received 27 July 2020 and amended by revised site plan showing visibility 
splays at the access received 20 August 2020) at Hazels Old Road, Shotover Hill.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Page 8



5

The planning officer reported that the site was within the parish of Forest Hill but not within 
the village itself, some 2km to the north east. It was located on the edge of a group of 
houses lying outside the Oxford ring road.

The planning officer reported that the site was located outside a defined settlement where 
the council’s spatial strategy for new housing did not permit such development. However, 
the location of the site, in terms of its physical relationship with the surrounding 
development, extending out from the city of Oxford, made this a sustainable location, in 
that it outweighed the conflict with the development plan. In terms of green belt impact, the 
fact that the site was not within a village, rendered the development inappropriate by 
definition. However, the location of the site and its relationship to the existing built form 
represented very special circumstances that outweighed the harm to the green belt. 

Planning officers considered that impact, in terms of access, drainage and trees, was 
acceptable, in conjunction with the appropriately worded conditions and ensured that the 
proposal accorded with development plan in these respects. The planning officer advised 
the committee that the title of condition 9 should read ‘new access’, not ‘existing access’.

Cllr. Malcolm Leeding, a representative of Forest Hill with Shotover Parish Council, spoke 
objecting to the application.
.
Mr. Tim Brighouse, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Mrs. Bronan McCabe, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. The democratic 
services officer reported that Mrs. McCabe’s statement had been circulated to the 
committee prior to the meeting.

Cllr. Sarah Gray, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P20/S2047/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

Standard conditions

1.  Commencement.
2. Approved plans.

Pre-commencement conditions

3. Levels (details required).
4.  Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only).
5. Surface water drainage works (details required).
6. Foul drainage works (details required).
7. Contaminated Land (preliminary risk assessment).

Prior to occupation conditions

8.  Contaminated Land - Remediation Strategy.
9. Existing vehicular access.
10.Vision splay dimensions.

Page 9



6

11.Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained.

Compliance conditions

12.Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 2 Class A, B and E) - no 
extensions and outbuildings).

13.No Surface Water Drainage to Highway.

29 P20/S2189/FUL - The Oxford Belfry Hotel, London Road, Milton 
Common, OX9 2JW 

Cllr. Sarah Gray, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration 
of this item.

The committee considered application P20/S2189/FUL for the retention of ancillary staff 
accommodation caravans at the Oxford Belfry Hotel, London Road, Milton Common.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that planning permission was granted in 2015 for the 
stationing of eight caravans on the land for staff associated with the hotel. The permission 
was temporary for a period of 2 years. A further application was made in 2017 for the 
retention of the eight caravans. The Planning Inspector allowed an appeal, granting 
permission for a further two years which expired on the 26 September 2020. Application 
P20/S2189/FUL now sought planning permission for the retention of the eight caravans for 
a further period of two years.

Cllr. Tracey Smith, a representative of Tiddington with Albury Parish Council spoke 
objecting to the application. The democratic services officer reported that a statement from 
the parish council had been sent to the committee prior to the meeting.

Cllr. Sarah Gray, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

In response to a question from the committee regarding the tidiness of the site, the 
planning officer confirmed that the control of litter was not an enforceable planning 
condition.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P20/S2189/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Temporary building (two years).
2.  Limit to 8 caravans and occupation by persons solely employed at the Belfry Hotel.

30 P20/S2373/FUL - Former Lloyds Bank, High Street, Goring, RG8 
9AT 

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote just before the 
meeting guillotine of 8:30pm to continue.

Page 10



7

The committee considered application P20/S2373/FUL for a change of use of part A5 user 
class (Hot Food Takeaway) to  A3 user class (Restaurant), Sui Generis use as taxi office 
and residential use at first floor to remain at the former Lloyds Bank, High Street, Goring.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that section 5 of the report (Policy and Guidance) should 
have made reference to Policy CF2 – provision of community facilities and services.  Also, 
paragraph 6.12, the word ‘not’ should be added, so the relevant sentence should read; 
‘Neighbours and Goring Parish Council have objected to the change of use application due 
to a new advertisement display on the grounds that it does not reflect the character of the 
wider Goring Conservation Area’.

The planning officer reported that some objections did not in fact relate to the detail of the 
planning application, but to the signage on the building. This would be subject in due 
course to planning permission. 

Cllr. Matthew Brown, a representative of Goring Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

The planning officer concluded by stating that in the view of planning officers, the 
proposed change of use would produce minimal changes to the external appearance of 
the building and would not materially harm the character of the Goring Conservation Area.  
Additionally, the proposed change of use would not produce any increase in highway or 
amenity concerns beyond those associated with the existing use.  In conjunction with the 
recommended conditions, the proposal accorded with development plan policies.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P20/S2373/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Materials as on plan.
4. Hours of operation.
5. Food and Safety informative.

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm

Chairman Date

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 21 OCTOBER 2020 AT 6.00 PM

VIRTUAL MEETING

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti, Ken Arlett, David Bretherton, Kate Gregory, Lorraine Hillier, George 
Levy, Jo Robb, Ian White and Celia Wilson

Apologies:

Sarah Gray tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Paula Fox, George Jackson, Simon Kitson, Paul Lucas, Davina Sarac, 
Tracy Smith, 

31 Chairman's announcements 

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the procedure to be followed in 
a virtual meeting.

32 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 23 
September 2020 as a correct record and agree that the Chair sign these as such.

33 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

34 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

35 Proposals for site visits 

Public Document Pack

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



2

A proposal, moved and seconded, for a site visit in respect of application P20/S0510/FUL, 
land to rear of 16 Reading Road, Henley-on-Thames, to ascertain the layout of the site, 
and highways issues was declared carried on being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of application P20/S0510/FUL, to allow members to 
visit the site. 

A proposal, moved and seconded, for a site visit for applications P19/S0821/FUL and 
P19/S0822/LB, Goulds Grove, Old London Road, Ewelme, to ascertain the layout of the 
site, and highways and listed building issues, was declared carried on being put to the 
vote. 

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of applications P19/S0821/FUL and P19/S0822/LB, to 
allow members to visit the site.

36 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was shared with 
members of the committee. Any statements from the public received prior to the meeting 
were circulated to the committee and would be published on the council’s website.

37 P19/S2061/FUL - Highfield, 17 Stoke Row Road, Peppard Common, 
RG9 5EJ 

Councillor Lorraine Hillier and Councillor Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, stood down 
from the committee for consideration of this application.

The committee considered application P19/S2061/FUL for the erection of a single storey 
detached 2-bedroom dwelling, with associated works to facilitate a new access, together 
with external landscaping (width and height of dwelling reduced and changes to external 
layout as shown on amended plans received 11th September 2019 and additional fire 
engine tracking plan received 24th October 2019 and reduction in width of rear patio and 
pedestrian footpath and details of boundary treatment and levels as shown on amended 
and additional plans received 5th February 2020 and corrections to existing tree heights, 
retention of existing close-boarded fence and replacement front hedging as shown on 
amended plans received 17th June 2020) at Highfield,17 Stoke Row Road, Peppard 
Common.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that application site had a restrictive covenant that applied to 
the former traditional orchard land to be “used only as an orchard or garden ground” in 
connection with the dwelling house known as Highfield. There was presently no obligation 
on the landowner to maintain the current ecological value of the land. The development 
would be sited on the vegetable patch and amenity grassland, avoiding impacts on the 
traditional orchard to the south-west.

The planning officer also reported that the roof of the proposed dwelling would be 
positioned below the eaves’ height of No.17 and thus would only be viewed from the west, 
against the backdrop of the established line of two storey housing. In relation to light 
pollution, planning officers considered that the proposed dwelling would not add to this to 
any large degree, given its location within the built-up area of the village and the number of 

Page 14



3

dwellings in the surrounding area. A planning condition was recommended to require 
details of any desired external lighting to be agreed with the council prior to its installation. 
The garden areas for the proposed dwelling, and retained for No.17, would exceed the 
recommended minimum standards of 50 square metres for two-bedroom dwellings and 
100 square metres for larger dwellings.
The proposed vehicular access onto Stoke Row Road would be unlikely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the highway network in the vicinity and, in conjunction with 
the anticipated low vehicle speeds along the driveway, would not increase the risk to 
highway and pedestrian safety to an unacceptable degree. The highway liaison officer had 
no objection to these arrangements. 

The democratic services officer reported that the statement of objection from the 
Rotherfield Peppard Parish Council had been sent to the committee prior to the meeting.

Mr. Martin Pratt, a local resident of 15 Stoke Row Road, spoke objecting to the application.

Councillor Lorraine Hillier, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

Councillor Jo Robb, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. 

The committee considered that proposed dwelling and access, by reason of its position 
and appearance, would constitute a form of backland development that would be out of 
keeping with the prevailing two-storey frontage development and thereby detract from the 
sylvan character and appearance of the area.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P19/S2061/FUL for the 
following reason;

1. the proposal constituted a form of backland development that would be out of 
character with the appearance of the local area.

38 P20/S0928/FUL - Land at The Elms, Upper High Street, Thame 

Councillor David Bretherton and Councillor Kate Gregory, local ward councillors, stood 
down from the committee for consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P20/S0928/FUL for the erection of an extra care 
development (Use Class C2) of 66 units; 3 guest rooms; a communal resident's centre 
with staff facilities; provision of car, cycle and mobility scooter parking; the creation of new 
public open space; the provision of new pedestrian/cycle links from Upper High Street to 
Elms Road and Elms Park; and associated infrastructure works and landscaping on land 
at the Elms, Upper High Street, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Page 15



4

The planning officer reported that site was located within the centre of Thame in the 
vicinity of several listed buildings. The site was within the Thame Conservation Area and 
currently there was no public access through the site.
The application site had an extant planning permission and listed building consent for 37 
dwellings and associated works.  The permission was extant as all pre-commencement 
conditions had been discharged and the access to the site had been implemented in 
accordance with the approved plans.  The extant planning permission was a significant 
material consideration in the determination of this application. An application in 2018 was 
refused under delegated powers and was the subject of an appeal.

As part of the appeal process, the council and the appellant were required to agree 
common ground and this was set out in a statement of common ground (SoCG). This 
enabled the Inspector to identify the main issues. A copy of the SoCG was attached as 
Appendix 2 of the report.  The Inspector set out the main issues in the determination of the 
appeal in paragraph 12 of the Decision Letter, which were set out in paragraph 2.4 of the 
report. The Inspector’s conclusions on the main issues, which resulted in his dismissal of 
the appeal, were of significant importance in the determination of this current application 
(the inspector’s reasons and details of the applicants’ high court challenge were set out in 
paragraphs 2.7 to 2.37 of the report). The committee noted that the appeal decision had 
included a reference to less than substantial harm.  

The planning officer reported that the proposed scheme opened up routes for public 
access and improved connectivity in Thame.  Key visualisations of these routes were 
shown to the committee as part of the presentation of the report. The scheme had a 21% 
footprint reduction in comparison to the extant scheme. The report provided information on 
the significant need for older persons’ accommodation in the district and gave details on 
the assessment of that need through the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (2014), updated through the Authority Monitoring Report (2019). These 
details were provided in paragraphs 8.26 to 8.31 of the committee’s report.

The committee noted that the proposal was contrary to Thame Neighbourhood Plan 
policies, which allowed for only 45 residential dwellings at the Elms. The planning officer 
reported that the scheme would deliver a policy-compliant affordable housing contribution, 
of which there was an overwhelming need. The housing officer had confirmed that it was 
appropriate that this contribution was made off-site, having regard to the nature of the 
development.  The contribution was a significant benefit, which should be afforded 
significant weight. Additionally, the proposed development would result in job creation 
during construction and operation, and the use would add to economic activity in the area.

Other benefits associated with the development would be the delivery of a good mix of 
housing types, a heritage benefit concerning improved public open space and the opening 
up of the park, and significant infrastructure benefits, besides the off-site affordable 
housing element, through the S.106 agreement.

Mr. Graeme Markland, a representative of Thame Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Mr. Adrian Reynolds, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 

Mr Mark Sitch, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Kate Gregory, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

Page 16



5

Councillor David Bretherton, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

The committee questioned the planning officer in respect of the basis of the calculation for 
the affordable housing element and were sceptical that the number of off-site units quoted 
in the report would be realised. The planning officer reported that the figures were the 
result of detailed work undertaken by a specialist housing officer, who was not present at 
the meeting. The committee considered that it required comprehensive information on 
affordable housing, the financial contribution and the number of units, and therefore at the 
present time did not have all the relevant information upon which to make a decision.  It 
considered that it would be appropriate to defer consideration of this application and to 
invite the housing officer to the meeting when the application would be determined.

A motion moved and seconded, to defer consideration of the application, to permit further 
detail on the affordable housing element to be brought to the committee, was declared 
carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of application P20/S0928/FUL pending further 
information in respect of affordable housing.

39 P20/S0510/FUL - Land to rear of 16 Reading Road, Henley-On-
Thames, RG9 1AG 

Consideration of this application had been deferred, pending a site visit.

40 P19/S0821/FUL and P19/S0822/LB - Goulds Grove, Old London 
Road, Ewelme, OX10 6PX 

Consideration of this application had been deferred, pending a site visit.

41 P19/S0480/FUL - Thame Service Station, Long Crendon Road, 
Thame, OX9 3SB 

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote just before the 
meeting guillotine of 8:30pm to continue the item they were on.

Councillor David Bretherton and Councillor Kate Gregory, local ward councillors, stood 
down from the committee for consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P19/S0480/FUL for two Drive Thru (A1, A3, A5) 
Pods with associated landscaping, hardstanding and other associated works (Bat survey 
submitted 21 August 2019, letter received 16 September 2019 in response to Thame 
Town Council's comments and Flood Risk Assessment Addendum received 26 September 
2019.) (Updated Flood Risk Addendum and Annexe submitted 25 November 2019) at 
Thame Service Station, Long Crendon Road, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported an error in paragraph 2.2 of the report, where the 
descriptions of the units’ size were reversed; the larger proposed unit was Burger King and 
the smaller one was the coffee shop. Also, paragraph 6.2 referred incorrectly to a 
proposed use comprising a mixed Class E (café), whereas it was in fact Class A.

Page 17



6

The planning officer also reported that recommended condition 7, ‘Development to be 
carried out in accordance with tree protection details’ required further explanation to the 
committee; the forestry officer was satisfied with the details without the need for a formal 
agreement prior to commencement.

The committee was advised that Thame Town Council objected to the removal of 7 bays 
of heavy goods vehicle and coach parking. The local highway authority did not wish to 
object to the granting of planning permission.  A condition requiring parking and 
manoeuvring areas to be retained was recommended, which had been included in the 
recommended conditions in the report. The committee noted that where Thame town 
council had alleged an illegal use of some hardstanding for storage and jet wash facilities, 
these uses had now been discontinued. The committee was provided with a slide 
presentation of the existing parking areas. In response to a question from the committee 
regarding a possible different mix of uses for parking spaces in this scheme, the planning 
officer advised that the National Planning Policy Framework (at paragraph 107) placed 
councils under an obligation to expand lorry parking and that in the case of this application 
the owner had a discretion as to the use of the spaces.

Councillor Graeme Markland, a representative of Thame Town Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Mr Bruce Risk, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor David Bretherton, a local ward councillor, spoke to the application.

The planning officer concluded by reporting that although a small number of objections 
related to the loss of some lorry parking, the proposal would provide sustainable economic 
development that made effective use of previously developed land and would not be 
harmful to existing businesses within the Thame town centre.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S0480/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Development must commence not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

2. The development must be implemented in accordance with the approved drawings.
3. A construction environmental management plan for Biodiversity (CEMP: 

Biodiversity) shall be submitted and implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  

4. A full surface water drainage scheme, including details of the size, position and 
construction of drainage works, shall be submitted and implemented in accordance 
with e approved details.

5. A revised Flood risk Assessment shall be submitted and implemented in 
accordance with the revised approved details.  

6. A scheme of landscaping of the site to be agreed and implemented 
7. Development to be carried out in accordance with tree protection details
8. Trees planted next to hard surfaces must be planted in specific tree pits. 
9. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the 

approved plans. 
Page 18



7

10. Parking & Manoeuvring areas shall be laid out in accordance with approved plans 
and retained thereafter.

The meeting closed at 8.42 pm

Chairman Date

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S4178/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 2.12.2019
PARISH CHINNOR
WARD MEMBERS Lynn Lloyd

Ian White
APPLICANT Persimmon Homes
SITE Land to rear of Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor, OX39 

4HN
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application for the construction of 

116 dwellings with associated infrastructure, 
landscaping, parking, open space and reptile 
habitat. Application considers details of access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, 
following grant of outline planning permission 
P16/S3284/O for up to 140 dwellings.

AMENDMENTS As amended / clarified by plans and accompanying 
information received 28 August 2020, 8 September 
2020, 6 October 2020 and 15 October 2020.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s recommendation 

conflicts with the views of Chinnor Parish Council.

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is 
positioned to the south of Chinnor.  It is the middle field of what was once three fields 
between the rear of Greenwood Avenue and the Chinnor and Princes Risborough 
Railway (CPRR) heritage railway line.  The two fields either side have been developed 
for housing in recent years.  And the housing development on the former Chinnor 
Cement Works is to the south of the site, across the other side of the railway line.  
   

1.3 The site is currently accessed by a single track off Greenwood Avenue.  The site does 
not fall within any areas of special designation.  

1.4 This application seeks approval of reserved matters following the grant of outline 
planning permission for up to 140 dwellings under application no. P16/S3284/O.  The 
reserved matters are access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.   

1.5 This reserved matters application proposes 116 dwellings with associated 
infrastructure, landscaping, parking, open space and reptile habitat.  The application 
has been amended during the application process to try to address concerns raised by 
consultees and to resolve some design issues.  Amongst other changes, the 
amendments have reduced the number of dwellings proposed from 132 dwellings in 
the initial submission, to 116 dwellings.  

1.6 Access is proposed from Greenwood Avenue.  Full planning permission was granted 
for the demolition of 17 and 19 Greenwood Avenue and the construction of an access 
to the application site under application no. P16/S2385/FUL.   

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4178/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

1.7 The Land Use and Green Framework Parameter Plan approved under the outline 
planning permission is attached as Appendix B.  The detailed layout proposed under 
this reserved matters application is attached as Appendix C.  

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below.  A full copy of all 
the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P19/S4178/RM

Chinnor Parish 
Council

Objection
 This development remains an urban style of 

development.  To be in keeping with the surrounding 
area the layout needs to be a more rural design,
containing a less formal appearance as has been 
done successfully in the other recent developments 
in the village.

 Insufficient parking as this is a village of low 
employment opportunities with a lack of public 
transport most residents work and need a car 1 
parking space per bedroom is required.

 We need to clarify the distance for access to the rear 
of the properties.

Neighbour 
Representations 

Comments received in relation to original plans
39 in objection, raising the following concerns:

 Too many homes 
 Poor and unimaginative design
 Development has an urban character 
 Layout like an army barracks 
 Will not be visually attractive 
 Cramped and dense 
 Overdevelopment 
 More suited to a town or city than a village 
 Additional traffic causing congestion 
 Lack of parking 
 Lack of infrastructure (schools, doctors, dentists, 

shops, drainage, highways)
 Apartments are not suitable for families
 Impact of flats on skyline 
 Impact on views of Chiltern Hills 
 Overlooking and loss of light
 Noise during construction and from future residents
 Noise from the electricity substation 
 Heights should be limited to 2 storeys 
 Loss of wildlife habitat
 Lack of green space 
 Not enough trees 
 Pumping station should be moved
 Changes in levels will result in overlooking
 Should not link to developments either side 
 Health and safety risk from power line

Page 22

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S4178/RM
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S4178/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

 Possible future enforcement issues 
 Back-to-back distances do not meet guidelines 
 Flats should have balconies / private amenity area 
 Previous decisions based on this site remaining open
 Limited options for sustainable travel 
 Surrounding roads not wide enough for access 
 Health risks due to proximity of pumping station 
 No play area will result in overcrowding of other play 

areas 
 Not infill development 
 Impact on trees 
 Changes in levels have not been considered 
 Solar panels should be required 
 Impact on operation of CPRR
 Impact of railway on reptiles in mitigation area
 Open space should not be at the back of the site
 Open space not in a location accessible to existing 

residents 
 Inadequate separation to the railway line 
 Reptile area too small 
 Does not met standards to reduce crime
 Failure to address climate change

Comments received in relation to the amended plans
39 in objection, raising the following concerns:

 Very limited changes in amended plans 
 Design lacks inspiration and imagination 
 Focus on highest number of homes possible
 Site too small for number of homes proposed
 Overcrowded 
 Not in keeping with neighbouring developments or 

village location 
 More suitable to a metropolitan setting 
 High density blocks with small living areas
 Lack of infrastructure (schools, doctors, dentists, 

shops, drainage, highways) 
 Does not reflect a village environment 
 Should not include 2.5 storey properties as they 

dominate the skyline
 Overlooking and impact on light
 Noise during construction and from future residents
 Noise from the electricity substation 
 Homes and gardens do not comply with standards
 All new properties should have private amenity areas 
 All properties should have electric vehicle charging 
 Design and look of development harsh
 Lack of green space 
 No play area will result in overcrowding of other play 

areas 
 Lack of parking provision 
 Disruption to local residents 
 Impact on trees 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

 Exclusion zone for pumping station not large enough
 Road through neighbouring development not 

designed to take additional traffic
 If development is linked up with neighbouring 

developments, then this would result in loss of green 
space in neighbouring development

 Impact on flooding 
 No litter bins or dog waste bins 
 Lack of any effort to move to a low carbon economy 
 Changes in levels have not been considered 
 Open space not in a location accessible to existing 

residents 
 Impact on operation of CPRR
 Not reflective of existing village architecture 
 Not included in Neighbourhood Plan
 Should provide access across railway to Old Kiln 

Lakes

One additional representation received which did not raise 
any planning matters.

Chinnor and Princes 
Risborough Railway 
(CPRR) 

Objection
 Noise Report does not take into account the noise 

from the diesel locomotives, the re-building of the 
railway to Aston Rowant, the noise from the 
workshop building or the use of the area adjacent to 
the site for loading and unloading

 The homes should not be so close to the railway but 
if inevitable, the corner buildings could have less 
windows facing the railway

 Proposals do not include vehicle access to the 
substation which is in breach of the undertaking that 
the developer gave in writing at the appeal inquiry

UK Power Networks Raised concern about impact of the substation to the 
southeast of the site on future residents in terms of noise.  
Recommended a condition to mitigate the impact on future 
residents.   

Crime Prevention 
Design Adviser

No objection 
 Pleased that applicant has incorporated some of the 

previous advice issued on creating safe places. 
 Provided guidance on other ways to prevent crime 

and increase security.  

Oxfordshire County 
Council Single 
Response 

Transport Development Control
No objection 

 The proposed layout accords with Manual for Streets 
and OCC Residential Design Guide.

 Grampian condition recommended requiring 
completion of access to Greenwood Avenue.

 Other conditions recommended to ensure timely 
provision of parking spaces, estate roads, including 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

potential links to adjacent sites, and pedestrian 
visibility splays.  

Lead Local Flood Authority
No objection

 Following discussion with the district’s Flood Risk 
Engineer, the previous objection has been 
addressed with a condition recommended to specify 
the measurements of gullies and catchpits.   

Archaeology
No objection  

 Planning permission P16/S2384/O has conditions 
attached that require a phase of archaeological 
mitigation in advance of development. 

Urban Design Officer No objection  
 Pleased that most of the outstanding issues have 

been resolved in the amended plans.
 An acceptable proposal in urban design terms.
 Minor points raised in relation to railings and visually 

screening the pumping station.  

Landscape Officer No objection   
 The amended scheme is now acceptable.

Countryside Officer No objection  
 The amended plans incorporate a low knee rail to 

demarcate the reptile mitigation area from the wider 
landscaping proposals and is now acceptable.  

Forestry Officer No objection  
 Following the submission of tree pit details, the 

proposal is now acceptable.  

Housing Development 
Officer 

No objection  
 The amended plans are much improved regarding 

affordable housing.
 Would like the applicant to explore further distribution 

of the affordable units.  
 Registered Providers have previously indicated 

preference of terrace and semi-detached housing 
being in the same ownership and asked the applicant 
to explore the possibility of semi-detached and 
terrace house having identical tenures throughout 
the site. 

 The parking for affordable units is disproportionate 
with some two-bed units having two parking spaces 
and others having one.   

Drainage Officer No objection
 Following discussion with OCC’s Drainage Engineer, 

the previous objection has been addressed with a 

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

condition recommended to specify the 
measurements of gullies and catchpits.   

Environmental 
Protection Officer 

No objection
 The amended plans have improved the noise levels 

to the rear of the properties closest to the railway 
line.  

Waste Management 
Officer 

No objection
 Provided details about bin storage and collection.  

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P20/S3523/FUL- Currently under consideration 

Removal of condition 23 (play area) on planning application P16/S2380/O. 

P16/S3284/O - Refused (01/06/2017) - Appeal allowed (24/12/2018)
Outline planning application for erection of up to 140 dwellings, new public open space, 
associated landscaping and site infrastructure.  All matters reserved.

P16/S3285/FUL - Refused (01/06/2017) - Appeal allowed (24/12/2018)
Demolition of two dwellings and construction of new access road.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 This proposal does not exceed 150 dwellings, the site area is under 5ha and is not 

within a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the EIA regulations.  Consequently, the 
proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  An Environmental 
Impact Assessment is not required as the majority of issues are considered to be of 
local significance only and can be examined through the normal planning process.    

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan currently consists of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011.  The Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 is also gaining weight as it 
progresses through to adoption.  Chinnor’s Neighbourhood Plan also forms part of the 
Development Plan.  

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) Policies:
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species

Page 26

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3284/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3285/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D12  -  Public art
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7  -  Access for all
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
T6  -  Protection of existing or former rail facilities

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan (ESOLP) 2035 Policies 
The ESOLP is at Examination.  Following hearings in July and August 2020, the 
Planning Inspector asked the council to prepare a ‘Schedule of Main Modifications’ to 
the plan.  The schedule reflected modifications, or changes, that the Inspector 
considers necessary to make the plan sound before it can move to the adoption stage.

We carried out a six-week consultation on the Proposed Main Modifications between 21 
September and 2 November 2020 and all responses have been submitted to the 
Inspector. The Inspector will consider all the responses received and decide whether 
any further hearings are necessary, or if any issues need to be revisited.  The Inspector 
will then present his final conclusion in a report.  If the report concludes that the Local 
Plan is ‘sound’, the Council can consider the adoption the Local Plan, subject to making 
the Modifications identified in the report.

A Direction by the Secretary of State requires the Plan to be adopted by December 
2020.  The policies in the Emerging Plan can be attributed various levels of weight 
depending on whether they have been subject to modification and the extent to which 
there are unresolved objections.  The relevant policies include;

CF5E  -  Open space, sport and recreation in new residential development
DES1E  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES3E  -  Design and Access Statements
DES4E  -  Masterplans for allocated sites and major development
DES5E  -  Outdoor amenity space
DES6E  -  Residential amenity
DES8E  -  Efficient use of resources
DES9E  -  Promoting sustainable design
ENV11E  -  Pollution - Impact from existing and/or previous land uses on new dev
ENV1E  -  Landscape and countryside
ENV2E  -  Biodiversity designated sites, priority habitats and species
ENV3E  -  Biodiversity non designated sites, habitats and species
ENV5E  -  Green infrastructure in new developments
ENV7E  -  Listed buildings
ENV8E  -  Conservation areas
EP1E  -  Air quality

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

EP3E  -  Waste collection and recycling
EP4E  -  Flood risk
H11E  -  Housing mix
H9E  -  Affordable housing
INF1E  -  Infrastructure Provision
INF2E  -  Electronic communications
TRANS2E  -  Promoting sustainable transport and accessibility
TRANS4E  -  Transport assessment, transport statements and travel plans
TRANS5E  -  Consideration of development proposals

Chinnor Review Neighbourhood Plan (CRNP)
Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan was adopted in October 2017 and is now part of the 
district council’s Development Plan.  The Parish Council is making a review of the plan.  
The modified plan has been submitted to the District Council, and if made, it will replace 
the adopted plan.  Following the independent examination of the Chinnor Review 
Neighbourhood Plan, the District Council have made the decision to progress the plan 
to referendum.  Regulations linked to the Coronavirus Act 2020 postpones 
neighbourhood plan referendums until May 2021.  In response to these delays, 
Government guidance has been updated and as a consequence the Chinnor Review 
Neighbourhood Plan can be given significant weight in the decision making process.  
The relevant policies are:

CH H1 – Infill Residential Development 
CH H2 – Affordable Housing 
CH H2 – Tenancy Mix 
CH H6 – Site Allocations 
CH H8 – Sustainable Homes 
CH H7 – Development Boundary 
CH C1 – Design 
CH GP2 – Protection of Habitats of Significance

5.2 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG) (November 2016)
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2016)

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 

applications to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  The relevant Development Plan policies are outlined 
above.  

6.2 The principle of up to 140 dwellings on this site is established through outline planning 
permission P16/S2384/O.  There is also an extant planning permission for access onto 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

Greenwood Avenue under application P16/S2385/FUL.  The main planning 
considerations for this reserved matters application are:

 Density 
 Housing mix – affordable and market housing
 The design of the development including the reserved matters of layout, 

scale, appearance and landscaping
 Residential amenity
 Highway matters and parking including the reserved matter of access
 Infrastructure - Section 106 contributions / obligations and Community 

Infrastructure Levy 

6.3

Density 

This proposal will result in a housing density of around 30 dwellings per hectare (dph) 
and there is concern locally that this is too high.  This is a matter that was considered 
under the outline planning permission and the Inspector who determined the appeal 
considered that the site could accommodate ‘up to’ 140 dwellings.  

6.4 The proposal has significantly reduced the number of dwellings that the site was 
anticipated to be able to accommodate, from 140 homes to 116.  One of the key 
reasons for this reduction in numbers is the requirement to provide an on-site ecological 
reptile habitat for an ‘exceptional’ population of slow worms that have been identified on 
the site.  A significant proportion of the green space to the southeast of the 
development will be reserved for this purpose.    

6.5 At 30 dph, the proposed development is a higher density than the recently constructed 
developments either side of the site.  The Carriages to the northeast and Oak Hill Park 
to the southwest, both have densities of around 23 dph.  Policy CSH2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) requires a minimum density of 25 dph unless this 
would have an adverse effect on the character of the area.  

6.6 The proposed development would incorporate significantly more smaller homes, 
whereas the neighbouring developments are heavily weighted towards larger 
properties.  The higher percentage of smaller homes on the application site does 
increase the density of the development.  

6.7 In my opinion, the higher density of this development would not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the recent developments either side of the site, or the 
more established parts of the surrounding area.  The proposal would represent an 
efficient use of land and would result in a greater mix of house sizes across the three 
neighbouring development sites.   

6.8

Housing Mix 

In accordance with the relevant policies, the application proposes 40 percent of the 
units as affordable housing.  This reserved matters application proposes 116 homes 
overall and so this amounts to 46.4 affordable homes.  Of these, 75 percent (35 homes) 
will be for rent and 25 percent (11 homes) will be for shared ownership.  The 46 units 
will be provided on-site, and the 0.4 ‘part’ unit will be provided as a commuted sum for 
off-site provision.  

6.9 The S106 agreement accompanying the outline planning permission specifies a mix of 
dwelling sizes and floor areas for the affordable housing.  At the request of the council’s 
housing development officer, the affordable housing mix differs slightly from the mix 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

specified in the S106 for the outline planning permission.  An alternative mix is allowed 
under the terms of the agreement.   

6.10 The mix that has been agreed with the council’s housing development officer is as 
follows:

6.11 The initial submission for this reserved matters application proposed 33 of the 52 
affordable homes as flats (the initial scheme was for a total of 132 units).  This was not 
acceptable as houses are more suitable for families needing rented accommodation.  
The high proportion of affordable units delivered as flats would also distinguish them 
from the market homes.  

6.12 The amended plans have significantly improved the layout and form of the affordable 
units and the proportion of flats has been reduced from 63 percent under the initial 
submission to 15 percent proposed now.  Furthermore, the applicant has added some 
market flats into the scheme and as such, this form of housing would not be unique to 
the affordable units and would help ensure that the affordable housing would not be 
distinguishable from the market housing.  

6.13 The amended plans have also dispersed the affordable units across the site instead of 
clustering them in one area, which would have been significantly more apparent with 
the higher proportion of flats.  The council’s housing development officer asked if the 
units in the central block could be broken up further.  Although this central block (plots 
30-63) contains 19 affordable homes, these are spread amongst 15 market homes and 
would not be a cluster of purely affordable units.  
   

6.14 The council’s housing development officer has also highlighted that Registered 
Providers prefer terrace and semi-detached homes to be delivered with the same 
tenure.  This is not the case with the amended plans, where some of the affordable 
terraces and semi-detached homes contain a mix of affordable rented units and shared 
ownership units.  This would not be a reason to object to the application as integrating 
different tenures will contribute towards achieving a mixed and inclusive community. 

6.15 In relation to market mix, the most recent evidence available to inform the mix is the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014.  The proposed market mix 
compared against the percentage split for the market mix outlined in the SHMA for 
South Oxfordshire is as follows:

Market homes 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%
Application proposal 6% 50% 34% 10%

6.16 The application proposal is heavily weighted towards two-bedroom units, at the 
expense of three and particularly four-bed units.  I support this approach as 
developments are often weighted the other way, with the focus on larger homes.  The 
neighbouring developments provided a much higher percentage of larger homes and 
so overall, the three sites together would provide for a greater range of house sizes to 
meet the needs of different groups in the community.  

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

6.17

The design of the development

The NPPF highlights that the creation of high-quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning process should achieve.   This is reflected in the 
design policies in the Development Plan with policy CSQ3 of the SOCS requiring 
development that is of a high quality and inclusive design, and policy D1 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) setting out a number of principles of good design.  
Policy CH C1 of the Chinnor Review Neighbourhood Plan (CRNP) requires 
development to be of high quality and respect residential amenity and local character.  
Similar requirements are set out in the design policies of the ESOLP.  

6.18

Layout

The layout that was presented in the initial submission was not acceptable.  It was 
dominated by hard standing with limited landscaping to break up the development.  
There were several blocks of flats which provided no amenity space for future residents 
and were surrounded by car parking.  For comparison, the layout as initially submitted 
is attached as Appendix E.  

6.19 The amended plans have significantly improved the layout of the scheme having 
reduced the number of units proposed from 132 to 116.  Most of the apartment blocks 
have been omitted from the plans and this has allowed more space for landscaping to 
break up the built element of the development.  Several parking solutions have also 
been incorporated into the amended plans, with areas of hard standing broken up 
through a mixture of front, side and rear parking areas.  

6.20 The Chinnor and Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) line has influenced the layout, 
with the proposed homes set back from the railway and separated by a road.  The 
buildings closest to the railway have also been arranged so that their gardens are to the 
rear (instead of initially proposed side on to the railway) so that the private amenity 
space of these properties can be shielded from the railway by the houses and their 
garages.  

6.21 The proposed layout is based on perimeter blocks and some of the objections raised to 
the scheme are that this would result in a regimented appearance, which would not be 
in keeping with the rural character of the village.  In contrast, the council’s urban design 
officer has raised no objection to this design concept and supports the clear perimeter 
block structure that the layout is based upon.  

6.22 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) encourages the use of perimeter blocks 
and adds that these should respond to the pattern and shape of blocks in the local 
area.   Although the layout of the blocks has a more regimented appearance in plan 
form, this would not translate in the same way to street level.  Users of the site would 
experience short sections of straight roads, broken up by different surface treatments.     

6.23 The positive aspect of the use of perimeter blocks is that they create a clear definition 
between public and private spaces.  The block structure ensures that the rear gardens 
of properties back onto each other and remain private, whilst maintaining an active 
streetscene with the fronts of the properties providing passive surveillance of streets 
and the open space.  They also create a network of streets that are connected instead 
of cul-de-sacs.   

6.24 In terms of the spaces between buildings, the SODG recommends the following 
minimum distances between the habitable rooms in new homes:

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

- 25m between homes that are positioned back to back
- 12m between homes that have a back to side relationship
- 10m between the fronts of homes
- 10m from the back of the property to the rear boundary

6.25 For the houses, the proposed layout achieves the above separation distances 
throughout the scheme.  The garden depths for a handful of the corner plots are below 
the recommended 10m (plots 67, 70, 83 and 99).  These are corner plots so the end of 
the gardens back onto parking spaces and would not overlook neighbouring gardens.  

6.26 The SODG also includes a recommendation for the minimum size of private amenity 
area and 25 percent of the gardens of the proposed houses fall below this 
recommended standard of:
- 1 bed = 35 sq.m 
- 2 bed = 50 sq.m
- 3 bed = 100 sq.m 

6.27 Of the 27 houses that fall below the recommended minimum size, eight of these are 
affordable homes which would be occupied by families.  This is a factor that weighs 
against the development.  

6.28 The affordable apartment block (plots 45 – 50) will have some shared amenity space, 
albeit limited in size.  Two of these apartments will have balconies.  The market 
apartments (plots 110-113) have shared amenity space that would accord with the 
above standards.    

6.29 In terms of the public open space, although lots of the land at the southeast of the site 
will remain undeveloped, this is not usable open space.  Much of this area will be 
fenced off (with a low knee rail) for slow worms.  The amount of usable open space will 
amount to around 7 percent of the site area, which is below the usual 10 percent 
required for informal recreation use in the SOLP.  

6.30 At outline stage, it was anticipated that a play area would be provided on the open 
space.  However, given the amount of public open space proposed, it is unlikely that a 
play area could be adequately accommodated on the site.  In addition, the Parish 
Council have expressed a preference for a financial contribution towards the provision 
of off-site play in lieu of an on-site play area.   

6.31 The play area at the neighbouring development Oak Hill Park adjoins the application 
site and so future residents would have a facility very close by.  The play area at The 
Carriages is also nearby.  And although the open space on site would not be equipped, 
it would provide a space for informal recreation.  Given these factors, I have no 
objection to the play element of this site being delivered as a financial contribution for 
off-site play, especially as this is at the request of the Parish Council.    

6.32 The combination of the limited size of the open space, and several gardens being 
below the recommended size is not ideal and is indicative that the layout provided is 
not of the highest quality.  However, the close proximity of the open space in the 
adjoining development helps mitigate this issue and it is noted that several of the 
gardens in the neighbouring developments were also below the recommended 
standard.  On balance, I do not consider that this issue alone would render the layout 
unacceptable and would not in itself warrant refusal of the application.        

6.33 The principles incorporated into the layout comply with the parameter plan that was 
approved under the outline planning permission (attached as Appendix C) and this 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

includes the location of the open space.  The detailed layout has been improved 
significantly through the submission of amended plans and in my opinion, is now 
acceptable.  

6.34

Scale

The building height parameter plan approved as part of the outline planning permission 
showed the centre of the site incorporating buildings up to 2.5 storeys and the 
surrounding development up to 2 storeys.  The proposed building heights accord with 
the parameter plan, with the 2.5 storey homes focused in the central area.   

6.35 The proposed two storey homes will generally be in the region of 8m – 8.5m in height.  
The amended plans have reduced the height of the remaining apartment block by 1m 
to around 10.5m.  This is lower than the apartment blocks to the northeast and to the 
east.  In my opinion, the height, width and scale of the proposed buildings will be in 
keeping with the surroundings of the site.  

6.36

Appearance

Several of the comments received refer to the appearance of the proposed homes 
lacking inspiration and imagination.  Streetscenes and visuals are attached as 
Appendix D.

6.37 Although some of the buildings will have a uniform appearance, the articulation of the 
house types provides some visual interest.  The mix of detached, semi-detached, 
terraces and apartments will also create some variety in the appearance of the 
proposed homes, and differences in height adds further variation.  

6.38 The corner buildings will incorporate windows to the side to avoid prominent blank 
facades.  The council’s urban design officer is satisfied that the materials will be 
appropriate to the character of the area and considers that the appearance of the 
house types is acceptable.

6.39 In terms of the appearance of the spaces between the buildings, the streets are defined 
and enclosed and a variety of surface treatments will ensure that they do not appear 
stark.  Brick walls will be used to enclose side gardens and the parking courtyard for the 
apartments, which is appropriate given that these are visible in the streetscene.  
Railings will also be used in combination with planting behind to help soften the 
appearance of these features.  

6.40 Overall, I am satisfied that the appearance of the development is acceptable.  Although 
it is disappointing that the applicant has not considered a more imaginative approach to 
the appearance of the dwellings, it is unlikely that a reason for refusal on these grounds 
could be sustained at appeal.   

6.41

Landscaping 

The amended plans have significantly improved the landscaping proposals.  The initial 
submission showed 27 trees to the front / side of the dwellings in the built-up element of 
the development.  The amendments to the layout have enabled this to be increased to 
47 trees, which will help to soften the built-up area of the development and improve the 
quality and appearance of the scheme.   

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

6.42 The landscaping has been designed in coordination with above and below ground 
utilities.  And the council’s forestry officer is satisfied that an appropriate volume of soil 
can be accommodated within the layout for the long-term health of the trees.  

6.43 The SODG advises that parking spaces to the front of properties should have a 
maximum of eight spaces in a row with a maximum of five spaces before an adequate 
planting break.  The landscaping scheme will achieve this.  

6.44 The council’s landscape officer has been involved in the evolution of the amended 
plans and the applicant has addressed all the landscape matters that were raised in 
relation to the initial submission.  The council’s landscape officer has no objections to 
the amended scheme.   

6.45

Residential amenity

In relation to the new dwellings, all homes will be provided with either private or shared 
amenity area, albeit some of these spaces will be below the recommended size in the 
SODG.  The unit sizes for the affordable homes will meet the floor space requirements 
secured in the S106 legal agreement.  As referred to above, the layout of the 
development complies with the separation distances referred to in the SODG and the 
new homes will be afforded a good level of privacy and light.  

6.46 Following the submission of amended plans, the council’s environmental health officer 
has no objection to the development in terms of the noise that future residents will 
experience from existing neighbouring land uses.  This includes noise from the 
operation of the CPRR.    
 

6.47 With regards to existing residents surrounding the site, given the distances to the 
properties in Greenwood Avenue, the proposed new homes will not have an adverse 
impact on these neighbours in terms of light or outlook.  With regards to privacy, a 
condition is recommended to ensure that the first-floor window facing No.15 
Greenwood Avenue is obscure glazed.  This is the only plot that is close to the rear 
boundary of the neighbours in Greenwood Avenue.    

6.48 The proposed layout works with the recently constructed development to the northeast 
(The Carriages).  A condition can ensure that the first-floor windows in the side of plots 
16 and 28 are obscure glazed to not overlook the closest neighbouring gardens in The 
Carriages.   Because of the intervening landscaping and open space, the proposed 
new dwellings will be a sufficient distance from the neighbours in Oak Hill Park to the 
southwest.    

6.49 Some residents have raised concern about the location of the pumping station and 
possible health and safety implications.  The council’s drainage engineer has not raised 
any objection to the position of the pumping station and health and safety is controlled 
through other legislation that falls outside of planning considerations.  

6.50

Highway matters and parking

Although technically a reserved matter, access has already been permitted under 
planning permission P16/S3285/FUL.  This permits the demolition of No.15 and No.19 
Greenwood Avenue and the provision of a vehicular access to join the site to the 
highway network.  The details of this access point have already been assessed through 
the grant of this planning permission.  

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

6.51 The application shows the potential for vehicular access links to the developments 
either side and the proposal will not inhibit any future proposals to provide vehicular 
access between the sites.  Pedestrian access will be provided to the sites either side to 
facilitate integration between the developments and a condition is recommended to 
ensure that these are provided and remain open.  This will also enable access to the 
adjoining open space and play area.  

6.52 Oxfordshire County Council have raised no objection to the proposed road layout, or 
the level of parking provided.  They have suggested conditions to ensure the timely 
provision of parking spaces, estate roads, and pedestrian visibility splays and these are 
included as part of the recommendation.   

6.53

Infrastructure 

Several of the objections to this application refer to there being insufficient infrastructure 
in Chinnor to accommodate further housing.  This is a matter that was considered 
under the outline planning permission which concluded that the principle of 140 new 
homes on this site is acceptable.  This is not a matter that can be revisited under this 
reserved matters application, which can only consider the details of the development in 
relation to layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access.  

6.54 A Section 106 legal agreement attached to the outline planning permission secured the 
affordable housing and the following contributions to mitigate the impact of the 
development:

 Bin provision and street naming 
 On-site public art 
 Contribution towards new bus stop 
 Contribution towards public transport
 Costs of monitoring travel plan 
 An on-site local area for play (LAP) and local equipped area for play 

(LEAP) together with public open space

6.55 As referred to above, the development will not deliver an on-site play area.  The 
developer will instead pay a financial contribution of £74,500 towards off-site play.   
This will be secured through a variation to the legal agreement attached to the outline 
planning permission.  There is also a current application being processed to remove a 
condition on the outline planning permission which required the approval of details of 
the play area.  

6.56 The appeal decision on the outline planning permission was made after the council 
adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The development is CIL liable, 
although relief can be claimed for affordable housing.  The CIL rate is £150 per sq.m 
(index linked from 2016 and currently £182.18 per sq.m).  

6.57 The money collected through CIL can be pooled with contributions from other 
development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.  Under the CIL 
Regulations, Chinnor Parish Council will receive 25 percent of the CIL collected to 
spend on infrastructure that is a priority to the community.  

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 25 November 2020

6.58

Other Matters

In relation to ecology, a condition would ensure that the development is constructed in 
accordance with the reptile mitigation strategy.  The plans show that a low knee rail to 
demarcate the reptile area, which would restrict access into this space.  
 

6.59 The outline planning permission was granted subject to several planning conditions 
requiring matters to be agreed before commencement.  The conditions included the 
agreement of noise and odour mitigation, a contaminated land assessment, 
archaeological assessments, tree protection and landscape management.  Drainage 
was also a matter to be agreed through a condition and the requirements of the 
council’s drainage officer can be considered through a request to discharge the 
drainage condition.   

6.60 Some representations have referred to the need to incorporate measures that will 
reduce energy consumption at the site.  As the outline planning permission is the main 
planning permission, it is unfortunately not now possible to add any further 
requirements to combat climate change.  

6.61 The proposals do include some electric vehicle charging points, which were secured 
under a condition attached to the outline planning permission requiring air quality 
mitigation measures.  These will be provided on 58 of the proposed homes.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The reserved matters conform to the parameters of the outline planning permission 

granted at appeal in December 2018. The proposal will deliver an appropriate mix of 
homes and will have an acceptable impact on residential amenity and highway safety.  
The details in respect of layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access are all 
acceptable in relation to the policies of the Development Plan.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To delegate authority to grant reserved matters approval to the Head of Planning 

subject to:

i) The prior completion of a variation to the Section 106 agreement to secure a  
    financial contribution towards off-site play, and

ii) The following conditions:

1. Development in accordance with approved plans
2. First floor window in the sides of plots 7, 16 and 28 to be obscure glazed 
3. Estate roads and footpaths provided before occupation of each dwelling
4. No more than 88 dwellings to be occupied until all estate roads, driveways 

and footpaths provided
5. No garage conversion into accommodation 
6. Reptile Mitigation Strategy 
7. Pedestrian access points to neighbouring developments 

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 36



 

 

Appendix A 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8P19/S4178/RM



GROVE

ST ANDREW'S

CHALK
PI

T L
ANE

GREENWOOD AVENUE
W

OODVILLE

HILLSIDE VIEW

GLIM
BERS

ROAD

A3

C:\Users\pcarroll\Desktop\Templates\CAD Stuff\Title Blocks And Templates\Title Blocks Jul 2016\Boyer Standard (ctb).dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND
Legend Guide Legend
Guide Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide Legend
Guide Legend Guide

Client A
Client B

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX XXX 2016 XX XX XX

XX.XXX/XX XX X:XXX @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION
XX/XX/16

DRAWN
XXFirst issue-

C

Landwood at Greenwood Avenue

Land Use and Green Framework 
Parameter Plan

20 Dec 2016 PC LD LD

15.240/P401 1:1000

Legend
Residential development

Primary Routes

Indicative location for play

Entrance area / open space

Open Space

A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P401 Rev A) Land Use And Green Framework Parameter Plan.dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Residential Development

Indicative Location
for Play
Indicative Location
for Pumping Station

Green Open Space

Persimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land at Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Land Use and Green Framework
Parameter Plan

21 Sep 2016 DL LD LD

15.240/P401 B 1:1000 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION
26/05/16

DRAWN
CDFirst issue-

14/07/16 CDRevised based on Pre-Application commentsA

0 20 40

10 30 50m

21/09/16 CDChanges on officers commentsB
20/12/16 CDPost planning ammendmentsC

Persimmon Homes

Page 38

SAV_EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix B



Page 39

SAV_EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix C



P
age 40

SAV_EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix D



Persimmon Homes North London
Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

N.T.S.@A4

03 September 2020 JDD / JDDSKETCH VISUAL 1
9182-P-51 rev A

\\FPCR-VM-04\EarlyWork\9100\9182\ARCH\9182-P-51A Sketch Visual 1.indd

fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

Key Plan

This drawing is the property of FPCR            
Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on 
the condition it is not reproduced, retained or 
disclosed to any unauthorised person, either 
wholly or in part without written consent of 
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

P
age 41



Persimmon Homes North London
Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

N.T.S.@A4

03 September 2020 JDD / JDDSKETCH VISUAL 2
9182-P-52 rev A

\\FPCR-VM-04\EarlyWork\9100\9182\ARCH\9182-P-52A Sketch Visual 2.indd

fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

Key Plan

This drawing is the property of FPCR             
Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on 
the condition it is not reproduced, retained or 
disclosed to any unauthorised person, either 
wholly or in part without written consent of 
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

P
age 42



Persimmon Homes North London
Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

N.T.S.@A4

03 September 2020 JDD / JDDSKETCH VISUAL 3
9182-P-51 rev -

\\FPCR-VM-04\EarlyWork\9100\9182\ARCH\9182-P-53 Sketch Visual 3.indd

fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

Key Plan

This drawing is the property of FPCR            
Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on 
the condition it is not reproduced, retained or 
disclosed to any unauthorised person, either 
wholly or in part without written consent of 
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

P
age 43



Page 44

SAV_EMMBOW_3
Typewriter
Appendix E - Original submission now superseded



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2355/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 3.7.2020
PARISH CHINNOR
WARD MEMBERS Lynn Lloyd

Ian White
APPLICANT Taylor Wimpey
SITE Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue Chinnor
PROPOSAL Erection of fence along the boundary of Kiln Avenue 

(as per minor amendment to the block plan 
submitted 9 September 2020, correcting proposed 
height of fence to correlate with the elevations and 
acoustic report provided)

OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is called to committee under the Planning Managers discretion due to 

the planning history of the site and the level of local interest.  
 

1.2 The application site is shown on the OS plan attached as Appendix A. The re-
development of the former Chinnor Cement Works was granted planning permission 
in 2010 and, except for the care home element, is now complete.  

1.3 The former Cement Works (now Old Kiln Lakes) is adjacent to the Chinnor and 
Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) line.  The line and yard are to the other side of 
the fence that is the subject of this application.   The CPRR Association Limited is a 
voluntary body which maintains and operates this heritage railway.  

1.4 The planning process for the re-development of the former Cement Works secured an 
acoustic barrier between the railway line and the new homes opposite the railway on 
Kiln Avenue.  This was a requirement of the original planning permission to mitigate 
the noise from the railway, to minimise any conflict between the operations of the 
existing railway and the new residents.  

1.5 The approved acoustic barrier has not been provided.  The fence that the applicant 
erected alongside the railway is a standard close boarded fence.  It is lightweight, with 
a gap at the bottom and has holes where the knots in the wood once were, as shown 
on the photo below:

Page 45

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2355/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

1.6 Several of the residents on Kiln Avenue have made complaints to the council 
regarding the noise from the railway.  

1.7 The manufacturer of the fence previously approved at the site has since ceased to 
operate and the approved units are no longer available. 

1.8 This application seeks planning permission for an acoustic fence comparable to that 
previously approved.  A copy of the plans submitted with the application are attached 
as Appendix B and other documentation associated with the application can be 
viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Chinnor Parish Council 

- Objects commenting, ‘the specification needs to be the same, or better 
than the previous specification’

- Objects commenting, ‘It appears that the specification proposed by Taylor 
Wimpey is not equivalent or better than the specification in the original 
outline approval. It should be noted that the same developer has provided 
a correctly specified fence on the other side of the railway line (application 
reference P15/S4131/RM). Therefore, there should be no relaxation of the 
specification’

2.2 Env. Protection Team 
- Recommends approval subject to the attached conditions commenting, the 

proposed fence meets the requirements required for the proposed acoustic 
fencing  

2.3 Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) 
- (3) Objects considering the fencing now proposed to be inferior to that 

originally provided at outline stage and unsuitable in that it would not 
sufficiently mitigate noise transmission from the diesel engines to the 
adjoining residential dwellings and as such the proposal fails to meet the 
requirements of national and local plan policies which seek to protect 
existing businesses and / or community facilities  

2.4 Neighbours
- (3) Objects ; commenting the fence proposed is not tall enough to 

adequately prevent the transmission of noise from the railway line
- (2) Comments in support ; of a proposed scheme supported by acoustic 

reports and environmental health officers – raises concerns over the loss 
of existing soft landscaping 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P09/E0145/O - Approved (29/06/2010)

178 residential units, max 60 bed care home, max 1555sq metres of B1(A) offices with 
associated means of access, car parking, landscape, amenity space, service 
infrastructure, A 3.5 metre high acoustic screen along part of the access road and 
provision of a new car park for the Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway.  Full planning 
permission is sought for the residential units, means of access, car parking, landscape 
(including the acoustic screen), amenity space, service infrastructure and the railway 
car park and outline permission for the care home and offices with layout and access to 
be determined(as amended by plans and documents accompanying letter from Agent 
dated 27 August 2009)(AMENDED PLANS AND AMENDMENT TO ENVIRONMENTAL 
STATEMENT)(and clarified by letter from Agent dated 7 October 2009).

Page 46

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P09/E0145/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

This is the original planning permission for the redevelopment of the former Cement 
Works.  The description of the development included ‘a 3.5-metre-high acoustic screen 
along part of the access road.’  This was a hybrid planning application applying for 
some matters in full detail and others just outline.  The description confirmed that the 
acoustic screen was the subject of full planning permission.  

3.2 The plans that were approved under this application (drawing no D1689.L.227) showed 
the acoustic barrier extending for a distance of some 260m along the access road, as 
shown in the extract taken from this plan below:

3.3 The approved acoustic barrier included a mix of the following:
- modular interlocking retaining wall system;
- native hedge planting;
- acoustic fence with climbers;
- criblock-wall with climbers; and
- native shrub planting,

as shown on the extracts from the approved plan below (sections A and B from above 
plan):

3.4 P10/E1917/DIS - Approved (09/06/2011)
Acoustic Screen, Chinnor Cement Works.
Discharge of condition 22 on P09/E0145/O

This discharge of condition request sought to approve details for condition 22 of the 
above planning permission.  This condition states:

Page 47

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

3.5 The details submitted for this discharge of condition request included alternative 
acoustic fence details.  This involved the erection of a 2.1m buffalo acoustic fence on 
top of a 300mm bund to achieve a combined height of 2.4m, as shown on the section 
plan below (4382:18 Rev A):

And in elevational form (drawing no 4382:19):

These details were approved under this discharge of condition request in June 2011.  

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

3.6 SE18/583 -  (pending)
Breach of condition 22 of P09/E0145/O.

This is the enforcement case which is investigating the breach of condition 22 of 
P09/E0145/O. The current application has been submitted in an attempt to regularise 
the breach.  

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Not applicable 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies

CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
RUR11  -  Former Chinnor Cement Works
T6  -  Protection of existing or former rail facilities
TSM1  -  Tourist industry

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034

CF1  -  Safeguarding community facilities
DES6  -  Residential amenity
EMP12  -  Tourism
EMP3  -  Retention of employment land

5.4 Chinnor (review) Neighbourhood Plan policies

CH B1 - Existing Employment
CH B2 - Enhancement of Employment Facilities
CH T1 -  Enhancement of Tourism Facilities
CH CF1 - Protection of Facilities

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.7 Other Relevant Legislation

Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Page 49

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=SE18/583


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning consideration is the following:

 Impact on the residents of Kiln Avenue against the noise from the 
operations of Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) and the 
viability of the CPRR as a local employment,  tourism and key community 
facility

6.2 Impact on the CPRR
The key issue to be considered under this application is whether the fence now 
proposed, would provide appropriate mitigation for the residents of Kiln Avenue against 
the noise from the operations of CPRR.  This is a matter of concern for both the 
affected residents and CPRR Association.  

6.3 The Chairman of CPRR has submitted several documents raising concern that without 
appropriate noise mitigation, the Railway will come under increasing pressure to curtail 
its activities. Where the fences now proposed stand at approximately 2.4 metres in 
height it is acknowledged that this is comparable to the scheme approved under 
application P10/E1917/DIS. However, they consider the 3.5 metre fences originally 
provided for at the outline stage are necessary to successfully mitigate noise 
transmission from the diesel engines into the adjoining residential properties. They 
believe that a lesser scheme (like the one now proposed) ‘…will seriously jeopardise 
future operations, financial viability and ultimately the ability of the railway to exist’.

6.4 Policy CH CF1 of the Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan (CNP) identifies Chinnor and 
Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) Station as a key community facility within the Plan 
area.  The local importance of CPRR is further outlined at paras 2.41 and 9.22, and in 
appendix 3:

The heritage railway of the Chinnor and Princes Risborough Steam Railway 
Association has been in service since 1994 bringing many welcome visitors at 
weekends and bank holidays making a significant contribution to the local 
economy, estimated at £0.5m per annum. The railway track was fully reconnected 
to the main network in February 2016. Future projects for the Association are to 
open an education centre and extend the railway to Aston Rowant.

Noted examples of the existing tourism and heritage facilities include the Chinnor 
and Princes Risborough Steam Railway.

This is a preserved heritage railway which is a thriving tourist asset contributing to 
the local economy.

6.5 Given that CPRR is a valuable tourist facility, policy CH T1 of the CNP is relevant to the 
consideration of this application for the acoustic mitigation measures now proposed. 
This policy seeks to protect existing tourist facilities, and states:

Other proposed developments adjacent or in the environs of any tourism or 
heritage facility should safeguard the integrity of the facility concerned. Proposals 

Page 50

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

will not be supported that would cause damage to the use, attractiveness, 
accessibility and sustainability of any tourism or heritage facility.

6.6 The impact that the re-development of the former Cement Works would have on the 
operations of CPRR was a matter that was considered under application P09/E0145/O.  
The site-specific policy for the re-development of the former Cement Works (policy 
RUR11 of the SOLP) set out a number of criteria that the development had to meet, 
including that the development: 

provide for the continued operation of the Chinnor/Princes Risborough railway line
and protect the former line to the south west from development which may 
prejudice re-use in accordance with Policy T6; 

Policy T6 of the SOLP states: 

Existing or former rail facilities will be protected from development which might 
adversely affect their use or potential re-use for public transport or as a cycling 
route. 

6.7 Although appropriate mitigation was proposed under application P09/E0145/O and a 
variation of the scheme subsequently approved under P10/E1917/DIS, this mitigation 
has never been provided.  The existing situation is clearly not suitable as the council’s 
environmental health team has received several complaints from residents regarding 
the noise disturbance caused by the railway.  

6.8 The council’s environmental protection officer has reviewed the application documents, 
including the acoustic report and is satisfied that the proposed fence meets the 
requirements required for the proposed acoustic fencing and recommends that it is 
installed in accordance with the plans and supporting documents submitted. 

6.9 Policy EP2 of the SOLP advises that noise sensitive development will not be permitted 
close to existing or proposed sources of significant noise or vibration.  The residential 
development at the Former Cement works is noise sensitive and was only permitted 
next to the existing noise source of the railway on the basis that appropriate mitigation 
be provided.  

6.10 Further, Para.182 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires planning 
decisions to ensure that new development can be integrated effectively with existing 
community facilities, and states that:   

‘Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions 
placed on them as a result of development permitted after they were 
established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility 
could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of 
use) in its vicinity, the applicant should be required to provide suitable 
mitigation before the development has been completed.

6.11 As CPRR was established prior to the re-development of the former Cement Works, 
Para.182 of the NPPF makes it clear that the responsibility to provide appropriate 
mitigation lies with the applicant. 

Page 51

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

6.12 On the basis of the information submitted with the application and the relevant 
consultation responses, I am satisfied that the fence now proposed is comparable to 
the noise attenuation scheme previously approved under application P10/E1917/DIS 
and provides suitable mitigation. In light of the views expressed above I consider the 
scheme proposed would protect the interests of the heritage railway which is a thriving 
tourist asset of significant value to the local economy. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and, subject to the 

attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
relationship to the character of the existing site and the wider area. It is also acceptable 
in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions

1 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
2 : Noise attenuation 
3 : INFORMATIVE - Chinnor (Review) Neighbourhood Plan policies

Author:  Caitlin Phillpotts
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 52

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS
mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 53

Agenda Item 9P20/S2355/FUL



EXISTING RAIL LINES USED BY CHINNOR AND PRINCES RISBOROUGH RAILWAYS (CPRR)

FOR DETAILS OF ENTRANCE WALL TO
DEVELOPMENT SEE DRAWING NO.
69-1639-ED-101.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACCESS TO CAR
PARKING FOR SPORTS PITCH

 

6.0
m

FOR LANDSCAPE RESTORATION PROPOSALS
OF IDO LAND SEE FABRIK DRAWING D.1689.L270

1.8
m

3.0
m

1.8
m

3.0
m

6.0
m

C

A

B

GG

K

KLL

N

MM

JW

W

Z

BINS

BINS

CYCLES

ZCYCLES

L

2.547m BSW Warrior Fence
  

g

g

g
g

g

g

g
g

g g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

Possible position
of bus stop*

H

7

1 1

1

V

1

3
2

456
8 9 10 11 12 13

14

15

16

17

27-41

6

3 25

7

89 10 11

14

13

15

16

17

41

1

42-50

17

16

4

3
5

6

7

129 10 11

15

V

25

28 V

35 V

4

12

31

30

36

40

V

V

V

46

V

50

48

49

50

4944

4843

27

45

29 VV

8

2

47

V

42

n o 
r t h

Taylor Wimpey Oxfordshire, Windrush Court, Suite J,

Abingdon Business Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 1SY

t: 01235 541900 f: 01235 541901

Date:

Drawn: Checked:

Drawing Title

Project Title

Drawing Number
Rev.

Scale:

B Sept. 2020 Fence label amended

BLO-001

Appendix B

P
age 54

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Description

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
1:500@A2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
MAR 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
BLOCK PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
FENCE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
OLD KILN LAKES, CHINNOR



Taylor Wimpey Oxfordshire, Windrush Court, Suite J,

Abingdon Business Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 1SY

t: 01235 541900 f: 01235 541901

Date:

Drawn: Checked:

Drawing Title

Project Title

Drawing Number
Rev.

Scale:

P
age 55

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
2.547M HIGH FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
CONCRETE FENCE POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Description

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
1:25@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
JUNE 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
FENCE PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
CHINNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
OLD KILN LAKE



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2176/HH & P20/S2177/LB
APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER and LISTED BUILDING
REGISTERED 9.7.2020
PARISH BRITWELL SALOME
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr and Mrs Newton
SITE Coopers Farm, Britwell Salome, OX49 5JZ
PROPOSAL Demolish existing garage building and construct 

new detached garage annexe building and new 
open storm porch to back door of main house

OFFICER Hannah Gibbons

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 These applications are referred to Planning Committee because the applicant is a 

District Councillor. 

1.2 Coopers Farmhouse, as shown on the ordnance survey plan attached as Appendix 
A, is a grade II listed dwelling, located within the village of Britwell Salome. The listing 
description for the building is as follows: 

Farmhouse, now 2 dwellings. Mid C18, later mid C18 left bay. Front of Flemish bond 
brick with flared headers on flint base; chalk uncoursed rubble with brick dressings to 
sides and rear. Gabled old and C20 tile roof; brick gable-end external stacks and 
internal stack. 3-unit plan with rear right outshut. 2 storeys; 4-window range. Flat arch 
over C19 four-panelled door. Segmental arches over partly renewed 3-light leaded 
casements, and flat arches over first-floor 3-light and one one-light leaded casements. 
Leaded lights to rear and left side wall, and to rear gabled dormer. Two C20 bays of 
similar materials to right. Interior: partial inspection has revealed timber partitions and 
chamfered beams.

1.3 The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applications seek planning permission and listed building consent for the following:  

 Demolish existing garage building and construct new detached garage 
annexe building.

 Erection of new open storm porch to back door of main house

2.2 A copy of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix B, and 
other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Britwell Salome Parish Council – No objections

Conservation Officer – No objections

County Archaeological Services – No objections

Drainage Engineer – No objections subject to relevant conditions.

Page 57

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2176/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

Forestry Officer – The officer initially had concerns regarding the impact the proposal 
would have on the landscape features of the site, however from additional information 
submitted, the officer responded with no objections, subject to relevant conditions.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections

Countryside Access – No comments received. 

Neighbour representation – One representation received expressing concerns 
regarding the proposed outbuilding and the loss of view. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P20/S2156/LB - Withdrawn (09/07/2020)

New open storm porch to back door

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CSEN1 - Landscape protection 
CSEN3- Historic environment 
CSQ3- Design
CS1- Presumption in favour of sustainable development

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:
CON2 and 3 – Extensions and alterations to listed buildings
CON5 – Setting of listed building
C4- Landscape setting of settlements
C9- Loss of Landscape features
D1- Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
EP6- Surface water drainage
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
H13 - Extension to dwelling
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2- Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies 

The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies include;

DES1- Delivering high quality development
DES2 - Enhancing local character
DES3- Design and Access Statement
DES9 - Promoting sustainable design
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV6- Historic environment
ENV7- Listed buildings
H21- Extension to dwelling

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
Not applicable for this site

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

Page 58

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2156/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

Section 6- Householder extensions and outbuildings

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of these applications and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining these planning applications the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Impact on the character and appearance of the existing listed building.
 Impact on the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and the 

surrounding area.
 Impact on neighbours.
 Impact on the special landscape character of the Chilterns Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty.
 Impact on parking.
 Impact on trees.

6.2 The impact on the character and appearance of the existing listed building.

 Policies CON2 and CON3 of the SOLP state that proposals affecting a listed 
building must respect its established character and not diminish
the special historical or architectural qualities which make it worthy of inclusion 
on the statutory list. 

 Policy CON5 of the SOLP states that proposals which would adversely affect 
the setting of a listed building will be refused.

 Policy CSEN3 of the Core Strategy states that the district’s designated historic 
heritage assets will be conserved and enhanced for their historic significance 
and their important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of 
place. Proposals for development that affect non-designated historic assets will 
be considered taking account of the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset.

6.3 The Conservation Officer has confirmed that the existing shed and garage structures 
are not of historic interest and do not add to the character of the site architecturally, and 
therefore there is no objection to their demolition.  The proposed front porch is 
acceptable in design terms and will not harm historic fabric or the special architectural 
interest of the listed farmhouse. 

6.4 Although the construction of the new annexe/garage building is subject of the planning 
application only the impact on the setting of the listed building is a relevant 
consideration.  The replacement building would be of a more traditional form and use 
external finishes that respond closely to the adjacent listed barns, and officers consider 
this to be more appropriate to the setting of these buildings than the existing flat roofed 
garages and store.

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

6.5 Impact on the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and the 
surrounding area.

 Policy H13 criterion (ii) of the SOLP states that developments to dwellings will 
be permitted, provided that, amongst other criteria, the scale and design of the 
proposal is in keeping with the character of dwelling and the site and with the 
appearance of the surrounding area.

 Section 6 of the SODG 2016 advises that the size, siting and scale of any 
development should not compete with the main dwelling.

 Criterion (vi) of Policy D1 of the SOLP 2011 requires that any proposed works 
respects the character of the existing landscape; Criterion (viii) requires that 
good quality site and building design and appropriate materials is provided.

 Policy CSQ3 of the SOCS advises planning permission will be granted for new 
development that is of a high quality and inclusive design that responds 
positively to and respects the character of the site and its surroundings.

6.6 The proposed development is of a good quality design, would use materials that are sympathetic 
towards the existing dwelling, and would blend into the appearance of the existing property. The 
development would integrate successfully into the established residential nature of the site and 
will not materially alter the landscape character of the surroundings or be seen as conspicuous 
when viewed from outside the confines of the site.

6.7 Impact on neighbours.

 Policy H13 criterion (iii) of the SOLP states that developments to dwellings will 
be permitted provided that the amenity of occupants of nearby properties is not 
materially harmed.

 Section 6 of the SODG 2016 advises that the proposal must demonstrate that it 
will not result in overshadowing, a loss of privacy or an oppressive or 
overbearing impact on neighbouring properties.

6.8 There is a neighbouring property adjacent to Coopers Farm named “Yew Tree Cottage”.  From 
assessing the siting of the development and its modest height, scale and design, I am of the view 
that this development would have no material impact on the neighbouring occupiers in terms of 
loss of privacy, light or in terms of overshadowing

6.9 In relation to the modest height and the appropriate scale and design of the proposed detached 
outbuilding, officers consider that it would have no significant impact on the neighbour’s 
privacy or in terms of loss of light or overshadowing that would impact the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers.  The loss of view is not a material consideration.  

6.10 Impact on the special landscape character of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.

 Policy CSEN1 of the Core Strategy states that high priority will be given to 
conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and that planning decisions will have regard to their setting.

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

6.11 Officers consider that the scale and design of the development is in keeping with the site, and 
the materials are to match the existing dwelling. Therefore, the
proposal would conserve the landscape qualities of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty.

6.12 Impact on parking.

 Criterion 4.16 of Policy D2 of the SOLP states that proposals which fail to 
provide discreet, adequate, safe and secure areas in which to park vehicles will 
be resisted.

 Policy T1 of the SOLP states that the Council will not normally permit 
developments which are likely to result in an unacceptable level of traffic on the 
local highway network, or which would result in a detrimental effect on the 
amenities and environment of the area.

6.13 The Highway Authority has no objections to the proposal within this application.  
Officers are satisfied that the development would not impact on highway safety or 
convenience. 

6.14 Impact on trees

 Policy C4 of the SOLP states that development which would damage the 
attractive landscape setting of the settlements of the district will not be 
permitted. The effect of any proposal on important local landscape features 
which contribute to the visual and historic character and appearance of a 
settlement will be considered. 

 Policy C9 of the SOLP states that any development that would cause the loss of 
landscape features will not be permitted where those features make an 
important contribution to the local scene, and/or provide all or part of an 
important wildlife habitat and/or have important historical value. Where features 
are retained within the development site, conditions will be used to ensure that 
they are protected during development and have sufficient space to ensure their 
survival after development.

 Criterion (i) of policy CSEN1 of the SOCS states that the district’s distinct 
landscape character and key features will be protected against inappropriate 
development and where possible enhanced. Where development is acceptable 
in principle, measures will be sought to integrate it into the landscape character 
of the area.

6.15 Following the receipt of an Arboricultural Method Statement, the council’s Forestry 
Officer has confirmed he has no objections to the proposal in relation to the impact of 
the development on an adjacent yew tree subject to a condition requiring the protection 
of the tree during the construction period.  Therefore, this proposal is in accordance 
with the relevant policies and design guides quoted above in relation to the impact this 
development would have on the landscape character for this property.

6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposed development is not liable to pay CIL as the net increase in residential 
floor space does not exceed 100m2.

7.0 CONCLUSION

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 25 November 2020

7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
relationship to the character of the existing building, its site, and the wider AONB. It is 
also acceptable in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity and on the historic and 
architectural character of the existing listed building.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

1 : Commencement of development within 3 years 
2 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Materials & details to be used as on plan and supporting documents
4 : Ancillary occupation and use of the outbuilding 
5 : Tree protection to be implemented in accordance with the submitted details

Grant Listed Building Consent subject to the following conditions: 

1 : Commencement of works within 3 years 
2 : Works to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Materials & details to be used as on plan & supporting documents

Author: Hannah Gibbons
Tel:       01235 422600
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 62



Appendix A

Page 63

Agenda Item 10P20/S2176/HH & P20/S2177/LB



838

Home office

68
6

18
0l

24
0l

24
0l

24
0l

24
0l

18
0l

18
0l

Garage

Footprint of existing garages Proposed new garage/annexe building

Proposed new storm porch

Root Protection Area

12.1m

Protected yew tree

Public footpath

IC

IC

IC

Existing foul drainage run

Proposed new foul drainage 
run to be laid under existing 
concrete path immediately 
adjacent to Yew Tree Cottage
All other services will be laid 
in same trench.

New soakaway to be 6.9m long x 2m 
wide x 0.7m deep (effective depth 
between the invert of the inlet pipe and 
base of soakaway) and filled with MOT 
Type 3 4/20 mm granular fill

300 mm catchpit ( 300 mm sump 
between invert of outfalling pipe to 
soakaway and base of chamber ) 
chamber 

Purplearchitects
31 Couching Street  Watlington  Oxford  OX49 5QF  t 01491 613020  www.purplearchitects.com  studio@purplearchitects.com

Revisions

© Purple Architects Ltd.  Do not scale off drawing.  Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies before commencing work.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.

Job

Scale

Job No Status

Issued for

Dwg 

Date 

Revision

RevisedSite plan as proposed

CFN P

Planning 1:250 @ A3

1.30Cooper's Farm, Britwell Salome

May 2020

N

C

16.10.20

Appendix BP
age 64



Purplearchitects
31 Couching Street  Watlington  Oxford  OX49 5QF   t 01491 613020   f 01491 614733   studio@purplearchitects.com

Revisions Cooper's Farm, Britwell Salome.

Farm house - Elevations as existing 
© Purple Architects Ltd.  Do not scale off drawing.  Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies before commencing work.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.

Job

Scale

Job No Status

Issued for

Dwg 

Date 

Revision

Revised

CFN P

Planning June 2020

A

08.07.201:100 @ A3

0.40

0 1 2 3 4m

Side elevationFront elevation

Front elevation

Interior not surveyed

Plan

P
age 65



Purplearchitects
31 Couching Street  Watlington  Oxford  OX49 5QF   t 01491 613020   f 01491 614733   studio@purplearchitects.com

Revisions Cooper's Farm, Britwell Salome.

Farm house - Elevations as proposed
© Purple Architects Ltd.  Do not scale off drawing.  Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies before commencing work.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.

Job

Scale

Job No Status

Issued for

Dwg 

Date 

Revision

Revised

CFN P

Planning June 2020

A

08.07.201:100 @ A3

1.40

0 1 2 3 4m

Side elevationFront elevation

Front elevation

Interior not surveyed

Plan
360 1265

2200

12
00

P
age 66



Purplearchitects
31 Couching Street  Watlington  Oxford  OX49 5QF   t 01491 613020   f 01491 614733   studio@purplearchitects.com

Revisions Cooper's Farm, Britwell Salome.

New garage/annexe building 
© Purple Architects Ltd.  Do not scale off drawing.  Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies before commencing work.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.

Job

Scale

Job No Status

Issued for

Dwg 

Date 

Revision

Revised

CFN P

Planning February 2020

G

08.07.201:100 @ A3

1.50

Rear elevation
0 1 2 3 4m

Side elevation Front elevation (facing drive)

Ground floor plan

838

Home office

68
6

Logs and bins

Side elevation

18
0l

24
0l

24
0l

24
0l

24
0l

18
0l

18
0l

Logs and bins

Internal floor level

Photovoltaic cells

Corrugated tin roof in metal 
oxide paint finish to match  
roof finishes to existing 
barns

Conservation style 
rooflights with flush fitting

Untreated SW 
feather-edged 
weatherboarding allowed 
to weather 

Painted timber entrance 
door

Painted or stained timber 
garage doors

Exposed timber truss

Approx outline of existing 
garage buildings and bin 
stores

Glazing to gable apex

Glazing to gable apex

Garage

Internal floor level

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 25 November 2020

1

APPLICATION NO. P20/S3243/LB
APPLICATION TYPE LISTED BLDG. CONSENT
REGISTERED 15.9.2020
PARISH PYRTON
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr M Gammie and Mrs S Crawford
SITE 6 Clare, Thame OXON, OX9 7HQ
PROPOSAL Removal of modern fireplace and modern plaster 

work to right of fireplace to reveal original features to 
potentially accommodate a wood burning stove; 
porch canopy; new front and back doors; and new 
colour for window detailing and doors

OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the applicant is a member 

of staff within the Planning Service. 

1.2 The site, as shown on the OS plan attached as Appendix A, contains an historic, 
Grade II curtilage listed cottage forming the end in a line of modest dwellings, centred 
around Manor Farm. The small settlement is positioned in a relatively isolated location 
roughly equidistant between the larger settlements of Towersey, Watlington and 
Chalgrove. 

1.3 The application seeks listed building consent for minor alterations and upgrading of 
the existing dwelling to include the removal of a modern fireplace and plaster work, 
the addition of a porch canopy and external doors, and the painting of existing joinery. 
The plans submitted with the application are attached as Appendix B and other 
documentation can be viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.   

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Pyrton Parish Council - Comments with no objections 

2.2 Conservation Officer (South and Vale) 
- Comments in support subject to the recommended conditions 

2.3 Neighbours - No comments received. 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 Number 5 Clare Cottages

P20/S3341/HH and P20/S3342/LB (Approved 16/11/2020) 
Replacement of front porch canopy, removal of cupboards either side of fireplace in 
lounge, new bathroom in rear first floor room with extractor, enlargement of window in 
kitchen & installation of extractor, installation of new central heating system, tile floor in 
hall. Rebuild boot room & WC, and widen internal doorway from kitchen. fencing to front 
and rear.

Number 2 Clare Cottages
P20/S3349/LB (Approved 17/11/2020)
Internal Alterations

Page 69

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S3243/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://savvpspocl01.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk:9081/PlanningOfficerModule2/mainapplicationscreen?application=P20/S3342/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 25 November 2020

2

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Not applicable 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies

CSEN3  -  Historic environment

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies

CON3  -  Alteration to listed building

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034

ENV6  -  Historic environment
ENV7  -  Listed buildings

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation

Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning consideration is the impact on the architectural and 

historic interest of the listed building

6.2 Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
require that, in considering whether to grant listed building consent for works which affect 
a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF reflects this 
requirement, stating that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. 

6.3 Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS is concerned with the protection of heritage assets and Policy 
CON3 of the SOLP aims to ensure that alterations would not harm the special historic 
and architectural interest of listed buildings. Policy CON5 of SOLP seeks to conserve the 
setting of listed buildings. Policies ENV6 and ENV7 of the ESOLP seek the same aims 
but have limited weight at this stage.

6.4 The council’s conservation officer raises no objections to the proposed works with his 
full comments as follows: 

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 25 November 2020

3

Alteration to fireplace: I suggest that once the modern bricks and gypsum plasters have 
been removed, that a suitably worded condition requires the agreement of the next 
steps in respect of any remedial work required and the possible installation of a log 
burning stove. The same approach is required for the protruding area to the right hand 
side of the fireplace.

Porch canopy: I am satisfied that the proposals for new porch hoods at both No.5 & 6 
are sensitive to the age and significance of the cottages and would reinstate the 
symmetry of the pair of houses. It is requested that any fixings for this are made so far 
as possible into the mortar beds rather than into the brickwork. 

Replacement front and rear doors: The simple plank doors proposed are more 
appropriate to the age and status of the building than the doors that currently exist and 
this would be an enhancement. Again, the co-ordination of the two houses in carrying 
out this project will be an enhancement to the appearance of the pair. 

Repainting windows in white and grey: A very minor alteration and I am satisfied that 
the character of the windows would be preserved. 

6.5 Subject to the recommended conditions, I do not consider that the proposed works 
would result in any harm to the heritage significance of the existing cottage or the 
contribution it makes to the character of the attached listed buildings.  The proposal 
complies with the relevant development plan policies as identified above.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies as, subject to the 

attached conditions, the proposed works would be acceptable in terms of the impact on 
the historic and architectural interest of the existing curtilage listed building.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Listed Building Consent subject to the following conditions: 

1 : Commencement of works within three years
2 : Works to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Materials to be as on plan and supporting documents
4 : Submission of details (fireplaces and right hand projection)
5 : Porch hoods (fixings)
6 : Matching materials (all other works)

Author: Caitlin Phillpotts
Tel:        01235 422600
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 73

Agenda Item 11P20/S3243/LB



Appendix B

P
age 74



Ground floor plan 

6 Clare, Thame, OXON Scale =  drawing no. 6CC – gf1 

 

 

1:100

New door and
porch canopyNew door

Remove fireplace
open up original
fireplace

Investigate 
what this is

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 21/10/2020 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	8 P19/S4178/RM - Land to rear of Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor, OX39 4HN
	Appendices A-E
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D a
	Appendix D b
	Appendix D c
	Appendix D d
	Appendix E


	9 P20/S2355/FUL - Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	Block Plan drwgno BLO001 Rev B
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1 (A0)


	Elevation Fence Proposed drwgno PE001
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1




	10 P20/S2176/HH & P20/S2177/LB - Coopers Farm, Britwell Salome, OX49 5JZ
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	2 Site Plan Proposed drwgno CFN 1.30 Rev C
	3 Elevations Existing drwgno CFN 0.40A
	4 Elevations Proposed drwgno CFN 1.40A
	5 Garage annexe plans and elevations drwgno CFN 1.50G


	11 P20/S3243/LB - 6 Clare, Thame, OX9 7HQ
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	Block Plan drwgno BLO001a
	Floor Ground Plan Proposed drwgno PF001



